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AUGUST 1989

Review was granted in the following case during the month of August:

Secretary of Labor, MSHA v. Mountain Parkway Stone, Inc., Docket No.
KENT 89-27-M. (Judge Weisberger, July 14, 1989)

There were no cases in which review was denied.
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

August 21, 1989

SECRETARY OF LABOR, _ :
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA)

V. : Docket No. WEST 89-86-M
INDUSTRIAL CONSTRUCTORS :
CORPORATION :

BEFORE: Ford, Chairman; Backley, Doyle, Lastowka, and Nelson, Commissioners
ORDER
BY THE COMMISSION:

This civil penalty proceeding arises under the Federal Mine Safety
and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1982). On June 13,
1989, Commission Chief Administrative Law Judge Paul Merlin issued an
Order of Dismissal, stating that the Commission had been informed by the
Secretary that the proposed penalty in this case had been paid. By
letter dated July 24, 1989, addressed to counsel .for the Secretary and
copied to Judge Merlin, Industrial Constructors Corporation ("Industrial
Constructors") states that its payment of a different civil penalty, for
Citation No. 3065456, appears to have been mistakenly applied to Citation
No. 2876658, the subject of the present proceeding. The operator requests
that this matter be reopened. A copy of this letter was received by the
Commission on July 27, 1989. We deem the operator's letter to constitute
a request for relief from a final Commission order, incorporating a late-
filed petition for discretionary review. For the reasons set forth below,
we grant review, vacate the judge's dismissal order, and remand this matter
for further proceedings.

The judge's jurisdiction in this matter terminated when his order of
dismissal was issued. 29 C.F.R. § 2700.65(c). Because the judge's
decision has become final by the operation of law (30 U.S.C. § 823(d) (1)),
we can consider the merits of Industrial Constructors' request, received
by the Commission after the judge's decision became final, only if we
construe it as a request for relief from a final Commission decision
incorporating a late-filed petition for discretionary review. See, e.g.,
A.H. Smith Stone Company, 11 FMSHRC 796, 797-98 (May 1989), and authorities
cited,
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Here, Industrial Constructors asserts in its letter that the reason
that its request for relief from the judge's dismissal order was late was
because it did not receive the judge's order or it was misplaced in the
company's office. Under the circumstances, we excuse the late filing,
and consider the letter as a petition for discretionary review. See
generally, M.M Sundt Construction Co., 8 FMSHRC 1269, 1270-71 (September
1986). See also Ten-A-Coal Co., 10 FMSHRC 1132, 1133 (September 1988).

An operator's payment of a civil penalty extinguishes its right to
contest the penalty and the underlying alleged violation, except where
_ payment has been made by genuine mistake. 0ld Ben Coal Co., 7 FMSHRC 205,
207-10 (February 1985). The operator's request for relief questions the
basis upon which the judge's dismissal order rests. The operator's letter
suggests that the operator should be heard with respect to the correctness
of the Secretary's prior notification to the Commission that the proposed
civil penalty for the citation in issue had been paid. See Coal Junction
Coal Co,, 11 FMSHRC 502, 503 (April 1989),.

Accordingly, we grant the-operator's petition for discretiomary
review, vacate the dismissal order, and remand this matter to the judge

for further proceedings. ,

Ford B. Eord, Chairman

A

‘Richard V. Backley, Commissioner

%oyce A, Doyle, Commissione ‘
Aéz Aé:\/éé~v4é;“’/

ames A. Lastowka, Commissioner

Flo e,

L. Clair Nelson, Commissioner

William T. Murphy, Esq..
Industrial Constructors Corp.
101 International Way

P.0. Box 7489

Missoula, Montana 59807

S. Lorrie Ray, Esq.
Office of the Solicitor
U.S. Department of Labor
1585 Federal Bldg.

1961 Stout Street
Denver, Colorado 80294

Chief Administrative Law Judge Paul Merlin
Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission
1730 K Street, N.W., Suite 600

Washington, D.C. 20006

1424



FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND H.EALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

August 21, 1989

SECRETARY OF LABOR, :
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH :
ADMINISTRATION, on behalf of :
JOHN W. BUSHNELL :
v. 2 Docket No. WEVA 85-273-D
CANNELTON INDUSTRIES, INC.- :

BEFORE: Ford, Chairman; Backley, Doyle, Lastowka and Nelson,
Commissioners

ORDER:
BY THE COMMISSION:

' This discrimination case arising under the Federal Mine Safety and
Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1982)('"Mine Act" or "Act"),
is before us on remand from an opinion of the United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit reversing our prior
decision in this matter. Secretary of Labor on behalf of John W.

. Bushnell v. Cannelton Indus., Inc., 867 F.2d 1432 (1989), rev'sg,

10 FMSHRC 152 (February 1988). At issue is the scope of the pay
protection afforded miners with evidence of pneumoconiosis (Black Lung
disease) by relevant provisions of the Mine Act and the Secretary of
Labor's regulations at 30 C.F.R. Part 90.

The discrimination complaint filed by the Secretary of Labor on
John W. Bushnell's behalf in this matter alleged that Cannelton
Industries Inc. ("Cannelton") discriminated against Bushnell, a "Part 90
miner," in violation of section 105(c)(1l) of the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C.
§ 815(c)(1), when, after a job transfer occurring as part of a company-
wide work force reduction and realignment, he was paid at a rate lower
than the rate he was receiving immediately prior to his transfer. The
transfer at issue occurred several years after Bushnell's initial
transfer without loss of pay to a low-dust job pursuant to 30 C.F.R.
Part 90. Commission Administrative Law Judge William Fauver determined
that Cannelton unlawfully discriminated against Bushnell when it failed
to compensate him after his second transfer at the same rate of pay that
he had received prior to that transfer. 8 FMSHRC 1607 (October '
1986)(ALJ). 1In essence, Judge Fauver concluded that the Part 90 pay
protection provision set forth at 30 C.F.R. § 90.103(b) applies whenever
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a Part 90 miner is transferred and is not limited only to transfers as a
result of exposure to respirable dust. 8 FMSHRC at 1608-09. The judge
awarded Bushnell back pay of $161.14 plus interest on that sum to be
"computed in accordance with the Commission's rulings concerning
interest" and assessed Cannelton a civil penalty of $25. 8 FMSHRC at
1609-10. We granted Cannelton's petition for discretionary review,
which was limited to the sole issue of the judge's construction of the
pay protection afforded to Part 90 miners by the Secretary's
regulations.

In our prior decision, we disagreed with the judge. We concluded
that both the general pay protection provisions of section 101(a)(7) of
the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. § 811(a)(7), and the regulations set forth in
Part 90 applied only to exposure-related transfers, not to all
transfers. 10 FMSHRC at 155-59. Finding that Bushnell was transferred
as part of a bona fide, non-discriminatory work force reduction and
realignment, we held that the immediate pay protection right enjoyed by
Bushnell when he was initially transferred to a low-dust position did
not obtain on the occasion of his later, nonexposure-related transfer.
10 FMSHRC at 159. In this regard, we stated that 'the pay protection
provisions of the Mine Act and the Part 90 regulations do not grant Part
90 miners a vested pay entitlement that insulates them against all
negative business and economic contingencies affecting their employers."
10 FMSHRC at 154-55 (emphasis in original). Accordingly, we reversed
the judge's decision, dismissed Bushnell's discrimination complaint, and
vacated the backpay award and civil penalty.

The Secretary appealed our decision, and the Court, reversing our
decision, stated:

We hold that the Commission failed to extend the
appropriate deference to the Secretary's
interpretation of her own regulations and of the
Mine act. The Commission erred insofar as it held
that section 90.103(b) protects the Part 90 miner's
wage only upon dust-related transfers and that a
contrary interpretation would violate the Mine Act.
Accordingly, we reverse the Commission's decision
and remand this case to the Commission with
directions to adopt the ALJ's decision in favor of
Bushnell.

867 F.2d at 1439.
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Accordingly, the judge's decision and assessment of civil penalty
are reinstated. Cannelton is directed to pay Bushnell the back pay
awarded by the judge, with interest calculated in accordance with the
formula set forth at 54 Fed. Reg. 2226 (January 19, 1989). See Loc. U.
2274, UMWA v. Clinchfield Coal Co., 10 FMSHRC 1493 (November 1988), pet.
for review filed, No. 88-1873 (D.C. Cir. December 16, 1988).

Ford B. Fpfd, Chairman

c1i2:;/4L<;4$CZ§{;/f;b04£79/

‘Richard V. Backley, Commissioner

éoyce K. Doyle, Commissione¥?

v I3 »
ames A, Lastowka, Commissioner

L. Clair Nelson, Commissioner

Distribution

Larry W. Blalock, Esq.

Michael J. Bonmarito, Esq.
Jackson, Kelly, Holt & O'Farrell
P,0. Box 553

Charleston, West Virginia 25322

Barry F. Wisor, Esq.
Office of the Solicitor
U.S. Department of Labor
4015 Wilson Blvd.
Arlington, VA 22203

Administrative Law Judge William Fauver
Federal Mine Safety & Health Review Commission
5203 Leesburg Pike, Suite 1000

Falls Church, Virginia 22041
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NwW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

August 21, 1989

SECRETARY OF LABOR,

MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH :
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA) :

and . :

UNITED MINE WORKERS OF AMERICA : Docket No. WEVA 87-272
V. H

BIRCHFIELD MINING COMPANY

BEFORE: Ford, Chairman; Backley, Doyle, Lastowka, and Nelson, Commissioners

ORDER

BY THE COMMISSION:

In this civil penalty proceeding arising under the Federal Mine Safety
and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1982) ("Mine Act" or "Act"),
counsels for petitioner Secretary of Labor and respondent Birchfield Mining
Company ("Birchfield") have filed a Joint Motion for Approval of Settlement.
The motion states that counsel for the United Mine Workers of America ("UMWA")
has no objection to the proposed settlement. For the following reasons, the
parties' settlement is approved and this matter is dismissed.

In January 1989, acting on Birchfield's petition for discretionary
review, we affirmed the decision of Commission Administrative Law Judge
Gary Melick (9 FMSHRC 2209 (December 1987)(ALJ)), which found that
Birchfield had violated 30 C.F.R. § 75.303(a) and that the violation
resulted from Birchfield's unwarrantable failure to comply with that
mandatory standard. 11 FMSHRC 31 (January 1989). A majority of the
Commission reversed Judge Melick's finding that the violation was of a
significant and substantial nature; a minority of the Commissioners
dissented on that point. Birchfield had also contended that the judge
had erred in assessing a $400 civil penalty for the violation. In view
of its determination that the violation was not significant and substantial,
the majority remanded the case to the judge for recomsideration of the
appropriate civil penalty.

Judge Melick issued a decision on February 2, 1989, assessing a
revised penalty of $300. 11 FMSHRC 198 (February 1989) (ALJ). The Secre-
tary filed a petition for discretionary review, arguing, in essence, for
reconsideration of the Commission's prior determination with respect to
the significant and substantial issue. The UMWA, which had not previously
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participated in this proceeding as a party, intervenor, or amicus also
filed a petition for review similarly seeking reconsideration of the
significant and substantial issue. By order issued March 14, 1989, we
granted both petitions and again directed review. In the meantime, on
March 10, 1989, Birchfield had paid to the Secretary the civil penalty
of $300 assessed by the judge, which payment the Secretary subsequently
accepted.

Following the Commission's Direction for Review, the National Coal
Association ("NCA") and Bituminous Coal Operators Association ('BCOA")
jointly and the American Mining Congress ("AMC") individually filed motions
to intervene., Concurrently with their motion, the NCA and BCOA, joined by
Birchfield, filed a motion to dismiss the Secretary's and the UMWA's review
petitions, The AMC, also joined by Birchfield, filed a similar motion to
dismiss. In turn, the Secretary and the UMWA opposed both motions to
intervene and both motions to dismiss.

On June 22, 1989, Birchfield filed a Renewed Motion to Dismiss and
Offer of Judgment, Birchfield asserted that the case was moot due to its
payment of the $300 civil penalty., Birchfield further stated that it
"d[id] not wish to incur further litigation expenses....'" Pursuant to Fed.
R. Civ. P. 68, Birchfield also "offer[ed] to have a judgment entered
against it and in favor of the Secretary of Labor for $400 ..., raising the
total payment by Birchfield to the amount of the original penalty proposal.”
Following the filing of this motion, settlement discussions ensued among
the parties.

On July 17, 1989, the Secretary and Birchfield filed a Joint Motion
for Approval of Settlement. Noting the Commission's prior divided opinion
with respect to the significant and substantial issue, the parties state
that they "recognize that final resolution of the [significant and
substantial] issue ... is a matter that is not free from doubt...." The
parties further '"recognize that extensive resources have been expended in
the litigation to date and that additional resources will be expended in
further pursuit of the litigation should it continue." The motion asserts
that "[i]n light of the above considerations, the operator has determined
that 1t no longer wishes to contest the [underlying] citation, its
significant and substantial or unwarrantable failure findings, or the
assessment of civil penalty."”

As part of the settlement, Birchfield agrees to pay a penalty of $400,
the amount originally proposed by the Secretary and first assessed by Judge
Melick. Birchfield also agrees to withdraw its previous petition for dis-
cretionary review that was the subject of our prior decision. In turn, the
Secretary agrees to withdraw her present petition for review. The parties
request the Commission to vacate its initial direction for review of Birch-
- field's petition, its January 1989 decision, its subsequent direction for
review of the Secretary's and UMWA's petitions, the judge's original December
1987 decision, and the judge's February 1989 decision on remand. The motion
indicates that counsel for the UMWA has authorized counsel for the Secretary
to state that the UMWA "does not object to the settlement" and that, upon
Commission approval of the stated settlement terms, "agrees to vacation" of
the Commission's direction for review of the UMWA's review petitionm.
Birchfield's earlier Offer of Judgment represented that the NCA and BCOA

1429



had no objection to the relief sought and, subsequent to the filing of the

joint settlement motion, the AMC submitted a statement of non-objection to
the settlement motion.

Oversight of proposed settlements of contested cases is an important
aspect of the Commission's adjudicative responsibilities under the Mine
Act (30 U.S.C. § 820(k)), and is, in general, committed to the Commission's
sound discretion. See, e.g., Pontiki Coal Corp., 8 FMSHRC 668, 674-675
(May 1986). As we have observed, "our 'responsibility under the Mine Act
is to ensure that a contested case is terminated, or cont{hued, in accord-
ance with the Act.'" Southern Ohio Coal Co., 10 FMSHRC 1669, 1670 (December
1988) (""'soCcCO0"), quoting, Youghiogheny & Ohio Coal Co., 7 FMSHRC 200, 203
(February 1985). The Commission has granted motions to vacate citations
and orders and to dismiss review proceedings if "adequate reasons" to do
so are present. E.g., SOCCO, supra, and authorities cited. Here, the
real parties in interest, the Secretary and Birchfield, have stated their
mutual desire to terminate a course of litigation that has become expensive
and onerous to them. The operator has agreed to pay in full the civil
penalty originally proposed by the Secretary. None of the parties who
have filed petitions for review or motions to intervene have raised any
objection to the proposed settlement.

In the past, the Commission has vacated enforcement actions and
directions for review in granting dismissal motions on review. We conclude
that the nature of the relief sought here is not inconsistent with the
Commission's inherent powers as an adjudicative body under section 113(d)
of the Act, 30 U.S.C. § 823(d), and lies within its zone of discretion in
this legal area. We further conclude that, in light of the unique circum-
stances of this proceeding, adequate cause exists to grant the parties'
joint dismissal motion.

Therefore, upon consideration of the motion, it is granted. Our two
directions for review in this proceeding are vacated and the underlying
petitions for review are dismissed. Our prior decision and the judge's
decisions are also vacated. In view of this action, all other pending
motions are dismissed as moot.

e Ford B. g%rd, Chairman

Richard V. Backley, Commission€r

eyee. L. el

ce A. Doyle, Commissioger

Lo S o

ames A, Last wka, Commissioner

. Clair Nelson, Commissioner
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

August 24, 1989
RUSHTON MINING COMPANY

V. : Docket No. PENN 88-99-R

SECRETARY OF LABOR,
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH :
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA) :

BEFORE: Ford, Chairman; Backley, Doyle, Lastowka and Nelson,
Commissioners

DECISTON

BY THE COMMISSION:

At issue in this contest proceeding arising under the Federal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1982)("Mine
Act"), is whether a violation by Rushton Mining Company ('"Rushton") of
30 C.F.R. § 75.1704-2(a), requiring that escapeways follow the "safest
direct practical" route out of a mine, was significant and substantial
in nature. 1/ Commission Administrative Law Judge Avram Weisberger
concluded that Rushton violated the regulation but that the violation
was not significant and substantial. 10 FMSHRC 713 (June 1988)(ALJ).

We granted the Secretary of Labor's petition for discretionary review,
which was limited to the issue of whether the judge erred in finding
that the violation was not significant and substantial. For the reasons

1/ 30 C.F.R. § 75.1704-2(a) provides as follows:

In mines and working sections opened on and after
January 1, 1974, all travelable passageways
designated as escapeways in accordance with
§ 75.1704 shall be located to follow, as determined
by an authorized representative of the Secretary,
the safest direct practical route to the nearest
mine opening suitable for the safe evacuation of
miners. Escapeways from working sections may be
located through existing entries, rooms, or
crosscuts.
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that follow, we affirm the judge's finding.

Rushton owns and operates the Rushton Mine, an underground coal
mine in Pennsylvania employing approximately 257 miners. On December 8,
1987, Donald Klemick, an inspector of the Department of Labor's Mine
Safety and Health Administration ("MSHA"), inspected the 2N-3 section of
the mine. Approximately seven miners were working in rooms 11-15 of
that section. Klemick found that the primary escapeway designated for
those miners was approximately 2,100 feet in length, was roundabout in
nature, and contained four 90 degree turns. See Exh. JX-4.

Klemick believed that Rushton could have designated a shorter,
more direct practical route out of rooms 11-15 of the 2N-3 section.
Tr. 29-30. Accordingly, he cited Rushton for violating section 75.1704-
2. 2/ The citation alleged:

The designated intake escapeway from the 2N-3 002
section to the intake shaft escape facility was not
located to follow the safest, direct practical
route. The escapeway was designated outby from the
section to station 7737, through crosscuts to
station 7792, then inby to the shaft a distance of
about 2100 feet. The safest, direct practical route
would be from the section traveling in a direct
route to the shaft of about 500 feet.

Klemick designated the violation to be of a significant and substantial
nature because he believed that there would be a reasonable likelihood
of serious injury in an emergency situation.

After consultation with MSHA, Rushton abated the violation by
designating a new escapeway route from the 2N-3 working section to the
No. 2 shaft. This new route was approximately 500 feet in length and
involved only one turn. Exhibit JX-4. In the Secretary's view, this
new escapeway was not only the most direct route but also the safest and
most practical.

After Rushton's mining of rooms 11-15 was completed, mining went
outby room 11 to a second set of five rooms, and then continued further
outby to a third set of rooms. For these rooms, Rushton reverted to its
designation of the original escapeway route for which it had been cited.
Use of the original Rushton escapeway for the second set of rooms
involved traveling a distance of 1,600-1,700 feet, while use of the
escapeway designated for purposes of abatement of the violation at issue
would have involved traveling a route of 800 feet. On mining the third
set of rooms, the designated escapeway involved a distance of 1,400

2/ Klemick's citation alleged a violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.1704-
2(b). At the hearing before the judge, the Secretary, without
objection, moved to amend the citation to allege a violation of 30
C.F.R. § 75.1704-2(a) in order to conform to the point in time during
which the affected area of the mine was opened. The judge permitted the
amendment., Tr. 6-7.
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feet, while use of the escapeway designated for abatement of the
violation would have involved a distance of 1,200-1,300 feet. Mine
Manager Raymond Roeder, Rushton's witness, testified that an inspector
(not Klemick) examined Rushton's designated escapeway from the second
set of rooms and that, to his knowledge, Rushton was not cited for
redesignation of the escapeway originally found to be in violation.
Tr. 123-24. Roeder also stated that Klemick examined Rushton's
designated escapeway for the third set of rooms but did not issue any
citations for the escapeway. Tr. 125-26.

In his decision, Judge Weisberger concluded that Rushton's cited
escapeway was in violation of section 75.1704-2(a) because it was not a
direct route to the shaft. 10 FMSHRC at 718. He also found that. the
escapevay designated in order to abate the violation was direct and less
than one third the distance of the cited escapeway. 10 FMSHRC at 716-
18. 3/ The judge stated:

In the event [0of] a hazard necessitating escape from
the section, it is clear that an indirect route
containing three 90 degree jogs and doubling back on
itself, is a greater impediment to a speedy exit
from a dangerous situation as opposed to the MSHA
escapeway, which is direct and less than one third
of the distance of the Rushton escapeway. As such,
it must also be considered to be the "safest" within
the purview of section 1704-2(a)....

10 FMSHRC at 718. The judge further determined, however, that the
violation was not significant and substantial. He stated:

Klemick testified that the use of the Rushton
escapeway, as it is longer than the MSHA one, could
result in a fatality by a miner being exposed to
smoke or could result in falls occasioned by the
rush to leave a dangerous situation. However, in
essence, he indicated that in the absence of
specific information, as to a specific hazard, it
would be difficult for him to tell what would occur
if one would have to use the Rushton escapeway. As
such, I must find that the Respondent [Secretary]
has not met its burden in establishing that the
violation herein is to be considered significant and
substantial (see Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1
(January 1984)).

10 FMSHRC at 718.

3/ The judge stated that the length of the cited escapeway was
approximately 1,700 feet. 10 FMSHRC at 716. The evidence in the
record, however, is that the cited escapeway was approximately 2,100
feet, as stated in the citation. See Exhibit JX-4; Tr. 12, 29, 109-10,
123, 158.
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No issue as to the fact of violation has been raised before us on
review. The only question presented is whether the judge erred in
concluding that the violation was not of a significant and substantial
nature. The Secretary submits that the seriousness of Rushton's
violation of the escapeway standard must be evaluated within the context
of the occurrence of an emergency and in comparison to the escapeway
subsequently designated. In the Secretary's view, use of the cited
escapeway in an emergency situation would create a significantly greater
likelihood of serious injury than would the shorter, more direct
escapeway designated for purposes of abating the violation. The
Secretary focuses on the greater length and less straightforward
configuration of the cited escapeway, and on the additional escape time
needed for use of the Rushton route.

A violation is properly designated "significant and substantial"
if, based on the particular facts surrounding that violation, there
exists a reasonable likelihood that the hazard contributed to will
result in an injury or illness of a reasonably serious nature. Cement
Division, National Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981). 1In
Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the Commission
explained:

In order to establish that a violation of a
mandatory safety standard is significant and
substantial under National Gypsum the Secretary of
Labor must prove: (1) the underlying violation of a
mandatory safety standard; (2) a discrete safety
hazard -- that is, a measure of danger to safety --
contributed to by the violation; (3) a reasonable
likelihood that the hazard contributed to will
result in an injury; and (4) a reasonable likelihood
that the injury in question will be of a reasonably
serious nature.

Accord, Austin- Power v. Secretary of Labor, 861 F.2d 99, 103 (5th Cir.
1988). '

The third element of the Mathies formula requires "that the
Secretary establish a reasonable likelihood that the hazard contributed
to will result in an event in which there is an injury," and that the
likelihood of injury must be evaluated in terms of continued normal
mining operations. U.S. Steel Mining Co., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574 (July
1984). See also Monterey Coal Co., 7 FMSHRC 996, 1001-02 (July 1985).
The operative time frame for determining if a reasonable likelihood of
injury exists includes both the time that a violative condition existed
prior to the citation and the time that it would have existed if normal
mining operations had continued. Halfway, Inc., 8 FMSHRC 8, 12 (January
1986); U.S. Steel Mining Co., 7 FMSHRC 1125, 1130 (August 1985). The
question of whether any particular violation is significant and
substantial must be based on the particular facts surrounding the
violation, including the nature of the mine involved. Texasgulf, Inc.,
10 FMSHRC 498, 500-01 (April 1988); Youghiogheny & Ohio Coal Company,

9 FMSHRC 2007, 2011-12 (December 1987). Finally, the Commission has
emphasized that it is the contribution of a violation to the cause and

1435



effect of a hazard that must be significant and substantial. U.S. Steel
Mining Co., 6 FMSHRC 1834, 1836 (August 1984),

Under this precedent and based on our review of the record, we
conclude that substantial evidence supports the judge's finding that
Rushton's violation was not significant and substantial in nature.

The judge's finding of a violation is not at issue on review and,
therefore, the first element of the Mathies test has been established.
The second element of Mathies requires the Secretary to prove that the
violation of section 75.1704 presented a discrete safety hazard. The
Secretary submits that the length of the cited escapeway and the
purported inability in an emergency situation to exit the mine quickly
and directly present a discrete safety hazard. We conclude, however,
that the Secretary has failed to show that the distance, travel time, or
any inherent qualities of the cited route posed a discrete safety
hazard.

The length of a mine escapeway, in and of itself, is not
dispositive of the existence of a discrete safety hazard. Insofar as
this record reflects, the cited escapeway, approximately 2,100 feet in
length, was the shortest escapeway in the Rushton mine. Tr. 109. The
length of the primary escapeways to the surface from the other five
working sections of the mine were 11,610 feet, 9,600 feet, 7,060 feet,
4,750 feet, and 2,470 feet. Tr. 100-01. The length of the mine's
secondary escapeways from all six sections varied from 9,100 to over
14,000 feet. Tr. 101. Nothing in this record indicates that the other
escapeways, all longer than the escapeway at issue (some by a quite
considerable extent) have been deemed hazardous by MSHA because of their
distances. See Tr. 101. Thus, the evidence of the length of the cited
escapeway cannot be viewed as establishing per se a discrete hazard 4/.

Additionally, all the evidence of record suggests that the cited
escapeway was in safe condition. Klemick's notes on his December 8,
1987 visit to the mine indicate that the cited escapeway was "maintained
in good condition." S. Response to Interrogatories. Klemick testified
that the escapeway was "in good condition" and that he encountered no
obstacles along the course of the escapeway that would impede passage.
Tr. 62-63. Further, Klemick did not issue a citation to Rushton for any
violation of section 75.1704 requiring that escapeways ''shall be

4/ Moreover, the Secretary did not introduce any evidence comparing
the times required to travel the cited escapeway or the subsequently
designated route. Rushton's witness Roeder testified, however, that a
person in a hurry could traverse the cited route in seven minutes. Tr.
110. The Secretary has not disputed the accuracy of Roeder's testimony
on the time required to travel the cited route. Although Roeder
conceded that it would take less time to travel the new escapeway (Tr.
140), the fact that there would be some difference between the seven
minutes travelling the cited route and an unknown, but lesser amount of
time travelling the new route is not, by itself, probative of a
"meaningful" delay in reaching the surface. See Florence Mining Co.,
11 FMSHRC 747, 755-56 (May 1989).
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maintained in safe condition." Tr. 62.

While the cited route contains several 90 degree turns, it
resembles a rectangle in shape. That configuration was not established
to be so intrinsically confusing as to be a discrete safety hazard.
Also, other factors indicated advantages of the cited route. Rushton
presented evidence through a member of the mine safety committee that
the cited route provided access to the alternative (secondary) escape
route and possible transportation, but that such access was lacking with
respect to the route that was designated for abatement of the violation.
Tr. 169-70; Exhibit JX-4. Furthermore, finding that the cited escapeway
was located in an intake entry while the MSHA-designated escapeway
relied upon leakage of air from a hole around a door in the escapeway,
the judge concluded that the cited escapeway 'clearly" provided more
air. 10 FMSHRC 716-17.

Finally, with regard to the third and fourth elements of the
Mathies test, we conclude that the Secretary also has failed to show
that the violation created a reasonable likelihood of reasonably serious
injury. The Secretary argues that, assuming an emergency, there was a
reasonable likelihood of serious injury due to the violation. The
reasons set forth above substantiating the Secretary's failure to prove
a discrete safety hazard apply with equal force here. The Secretary has
failed to show that differences in distance, travel time, or any
inherent qualities between the cited route and the new route posed a
threat involving a reasonable likelihood of reasonably serious injury in
the event of an evacuation. We emphasize in this regard that, as the
judge noted (10 FMSHRC at 718), Klemick was extremely vague as to the
type of injury that he believed was likely to occur (see Tr. 23-24, 61)
and he shed little, if any, light on the likelihood of any injury or its
seriousness. For example Klemick stated that "it's very difficult, if
not impossible, to state what kind of injury [might occur]." Tr. 24.
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For the reasons set forth above, we conclude that substantial
evidence supports the judge's finding that the Secretary did not prove
the violation of section 75.1704-2(a) was significant and substantial in
nature and we affirm his decision.

Ford B rd, Cha1rman

Richard V. Backley, Comm1551on€’—

oy 4 Mol

Joyce A. Doyle, Commissiorfer
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es A. Lastowka, Commissioner

L. Clair Nelson, Commissioner
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U.S. Department of Labor
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR -
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

August 24, 1989

SECRETARY OF LABOR,
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA)

v. : Docket No. WEVA 87-343

CONSOLIDATION COAL COMPANY : .

BEFORE: Ford, Chairman; Backley, Doyle, Lastowka and Nelson,
Commissioners

DECISION

BY THE COMMISSION:

This civil penalty proceeding arising under the Federal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1982)('"Mine Act"
or "Act"), involves three citations issued by the Department of Labor's
Mine Safety and Health Administration ("MSHA") to Consolidation Coal
Company ('"Consol") at its Arkwright No. 1 Mine in Osage, West Virginia,
for alleged violations of mandatory electrical safety standards. Consol
contended before Commission Administrative Law Judge Avram Weisberger
that, because the electrical equipment cited for the violations was
exclusively owned and operated by its independent contractor, Frontier-
Kemper, Inc. ("Frontier"), MSHA should not have cited Consol for
Frontier's alleged violations. Judge Weisberger rejected Consol's
arguments as to liability and determined, inter alia, that Consol had
violated the standards in all three instances. 10 FMSHRC 745 (June
1988)(ALJ). The Commission granted Consol's petition for discretionary
review, which asserted that the judge erred in finding Consol liable,
without regard to fault, for its contractor's activities. We conclude
that Consol could properly be cited for the violations in question, and
we affirm.

The underlying facts are not in dispute. Consol contracted with
Frontier to construct, by '"raise boring' methods, an 830-foot deep ‘mine
ventilation shaft in the Jake's Run area of the Arkwright No. 1 Mine.
"Raise boring," also referred to as "up-drilling," is a method of shaft
building whereby the shaft is drilled to the surface from an underground
location, following a small diameter pilot hole. Frontier is one of the
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few specialists in this particular method of shaft drilling and
construction.

At a preconstruction conference, Frontier and Consol discussed
Frontier's requirements for performing the work and apportioned
responsibilities for roof/rib control, ventilation, and the conduct of
preshift and on-shift examinations. It was agreed that electric power
would be brought to the work site via Consol's power center, that
Frontier would run its cables from the power center, and that Frontier
employees would not leave their work site during the shift. Frontier
also agreed that its certified electricians would conduct inspections of
Frontier electrical equipment and that Consol would conduct all other
required examinations. Subsequently, Consol performed those other
examinations, hazard-trained Frontier personnel, transported Frontier
personnel in and out of the mine, and instructed Frontier personnel as
to escape routes. Consol personnel did not direct the Frontier work
force in any way. 1/

On June 9 and 10, 1987, MSHA Inspector Edwin Fetty, accompanied by
MSHA Inspector Alex Volek, inspected the Main Butt Section in the Jake's

1/ Consol management at the Arkwright No. 1 Mine based its
relationship with Frontier upon a Consol memorandum, "Inspection of
Independent Contractors,' issued to mine personnel on or about
December 31, 1985. The memorandum provides in pertinent part that:

[T]he following are recommended when inspecting
Consol properties on which independent contractors
are working:

No inspection of the workplace of contractor's
employees should be made;

If you casually observe contractor's employees
either committing an unsafe act or violating state
or federal statutes or regulations, the contractor's
supervisor may be so informed. Consol personnel
should not attempt to require the contractor or the
contractor's employees to make corrections, or
otherwise take specific actions;

If it appears that Consol employees may be
endangered by the actions of contractor's employees,
all endangered Consol employees should be withdrawn
from the affected area(s) and the contractor's
supervisor should be informed of the actions taken
and the reasons for taking such actions and;

If it appears that Consol property is endangered by
the actions of the contractor's employees the

contractor's supervisor should be notified.

Exh. RX-4 (emphasis in original).
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Run area of the Arkwright Mine. Fetty, who specializes in
electrical/mechanical problems, made the spot inspection because another
inspector had informed him of a reported ignition at the Frontier up-
drilling site. Inspector Volek had been assigned to '"key in" on
independent contractors because their accident rate had risen.

Inspector Fetty observed the violative conditions in issue on
June 9 and took enforcement actions against Frontier on that date,
including issuance of a withdrawal order and citation pursuant to
section 104(d) of the Mine Act. 30 U.S.C. § 814(d). Because no
responsible Consol official was present at the time, he returned the
next day and issued three section 104(a) citations to Consol. Frontier
paid the civil penalties proposed by MSHA for its violations but Consol
contested the alleged violations issued to it.

With respect to the first violation, Inspector Fetty found that an
oil pump motor on a rotary blower was not equipped with a fail-safe
device designed to cause a circuit breaker to open when either the pilot
or the ground wire was broken. The citation issued to Consol pursuant
to section 104(a) of the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. § 814(a), alleged a
violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.902. 2/ 1Inspector Fetty also opened the
circuit breaker box for a 540 amp, 500 hp. blower motor owned by
Frontier and observed that the circuit breaker was set at 12,000 amps.
The inspector testified that the proper setting for a circuit breaker is
from five to ten times the amperage on the equipment serviced by the
circuit, so that the circuit breaker should have been set for a maximum
of 5,400 amps. The citation issued to Consol pursuant to section 104(a)
of the Mine Act alleged a violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.518-1. 3/ 1In
addition, the inspector examined the conducting cable to the same blower
motor. He determined that the cable was inadequate to carry safely the
540 amps drawn by the blower motor. The citation issued to Consol
pursuant to section 104(a) of the Act alleged a violation of 30 C.F.R.

2/ 30 C.F.R. § 75.902 provides in pertinent part:

[Llow- and medium-voltage resistance grounded
systems shall include a fail-safe ground check
circuit to monitor continuously the grounding
circuit to assure continuity which ground check
circuit shall cause the circuit breaker to open when
either the ground or pilot check wire is broken....

3/ 30 C.F.R. § 75.518-1 provides in pertinent part:

A device to provide either short circuit
protection or protection against overload which does
not conform to the provisions of the National
Electric Code, 1968, does not meet the requirement
of § 75.518....
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§ 75.513-1. 4/

At the hearing, Fetty testified that he issued the above citations
to Consol in addition to Frontier because the violations occurred in
Consol's mine, Consol employees were working there a portion of the
time, and any of the cited conditions could affect other employees and
areas of the mine if, for example, a fire occurred. Inspector Volek
understood that no Consol people were allowed into the Frontier work
area to do anything or to direct the Frontier employees but stated that
Consol had overall responsibility for safety of the mine and should have
made an effort to ensure Frontier's compliance with standards. Volek
indicated that in determining whether to recommend that Fetty issue the
citations to Consol, he considered the nature of the violations,
Consol's work relationship with Frontier, and the fact that the
violations occurred underground and could pose a potential hazard to
Consol's own employees. Volek testified that there are some situations
where only one party -- the production-owner or the independent
contractor -- would be cited, but that in some circumstances, as here,
both would be held responsible.

Before the judge, Consol conceded that it was 'the rule" of the
United States Courts of Appeals for the 4th, 9th and D.C. Circuits that
"the production operator can be held strictly liable for the violations
of its independent contractor, permitting the Secretary of Labor to cite
either the owner or the contractor or both," and asserted that it did
not contest the fact that Consol is an "operator' under the Mine Act.
Consol Post-Hearing Brief at 12-13. Consol argued, however, that the
appropriate inquiry was whether the Secretary's enforcement discretion
was properly exercised in this case. Contending that it was not, Consol
asserted that Commission precedent, particularly Phillips Uranium Corp.,
4 FMSHRC 549 (April 1982), in which the Commission reversed the judge
who had upheld the citations against the operator, permitted a
Commission judge to consider the circumstances relevant to the citing of
a production-operator as opposed to its independent contractor and that
the judge should adhere to Commission guidance in this regard.

The judge rejected Consol's arguments and determined that the
rationale in Phillips, supra, was inapposite to the instant proceeding.
He stated that Phillips involved a situation where only the operator was
cited for violations in connection with shaft construction by an
independent contractor. The judge held that Phillips was not
controlling on the issue of whether the operator and the independent
contractor, who had been separately cited for the violations, were
jointly liable under the Mine Act. 10 FMSHRC at 749. The judge
concluded that Consol was properly cited by the Secretary, based on a
line of court and Commission cases holding, in essence, that '"the owner

4f 30 C.F.R. § 75.513-1 provides in part that:

An electric conductor is not of sufficient size to
have adequate carrying capacity if it is smaller
than is provided for in the National Electric Code,
1968.... '
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of a mine is liable for the independent contractor's safety violations
without regard to the owner's fault." Id. The judge cited Bituminous
Coal Operators Association v. Secretary “of Interior, 547 F.2d 240 (4th
Cir. 1977); International Union, United Mine Workers of America v.
FMSHRC, 840 F.2d 77 (D.C. Cir. 1988); Cyprus Indus. Minerals Company v.
FMSHRC, 664 F.2d 1116 (9th Cir. 1981); O0ld Ben Coal Company, 1 FMSHRC
140 (October 1979), aff'd No. 79-2367 (D.C. Cir. January 6, 1981); and
Republic Steel Corporation, 1 FMSHRC 5 (April 1979). 10 FMSHRC at 749-
50. The judge went on to affirm the three citations and assess civil
penalties of $20 for each of the three violations. »

On review, Consol does not take issue with the Secretary's
authority to cite either the owner, the independent contractor or both
for violations of the Mine Act. Rather it challenges whether the
Secretary properly exercised that authority in choosing to cite Consol
as well as its independent contractor. Court precedent makes clear that
the Secretary has retained wide enforcement discretion and that courts
have traditionally not interfered with the exercise of that discretion.
Brock v. Cathedral Bluffs Shale 0il Co., 796 F.2d 533, 538 (D.C. Cir.
1986). In this instance, the Secretary pursued enforcement action
against both a production operator and its contractor for electrical
violations occurring in an underground mine setting wherein the
employees of both the production operator and the independent contractor
were exposed to potential hazards occasioned by the violations. We have
carefully reviewed the record, the judge's decision, and the parties'
arguments. We hold that the judge's conclusion that the Secretary's
discretion was not abused in citing Consol in addition to Frontier for
these particular violations is supported by the record, summarized
above, relating to the violations and the inspectors' reasons for citing
both parties, and is also supported by applicable precedent. See, e.g.,
0ld Ben, supra, 1 FMSHRC at 1481-86; Intl. U., UMWA v. FMSHRC, supra,
840 F.2d at 83; Brock v. Cathedral Bluffs Shale 0il Co., supra, 796 F.2d
at 537-38; BCOA v. Secretary, supra, 547 F.2d at 246.
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Accbrdingly, we affirm.

Richard V. Backley, Commission¥r

Joyce A’ Doyle, Comm1551onef

ames A.,.lLastowka, Commissioner

. Lo—nu

L. Clair Nelson, Commissioner

Distribution

Dennis D. Clark, Esq.
Office of the Solicitor
U.S. Department of Labor
4015 Wilson Blvd.
Arlington, VA 22203

Michael R. Peelish, Esq.
Consolidation Coal Company
1800 Washington Road
Pittsburgh, PA 15241

Administrative Law Judge Avram Weisberger
Federal Mine Safety & Health Review Commission
5203 Leesburg Pike, Suite 1000

Falls Church, VA 22041
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

August 25, 1989

SECRETARY OF LABOR, :
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH :
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA), :

v. : Docket Nos. PENN 87-94

: PENN 87-200-R

BETHENERGY MINES, INC. : PENN 87-201-R
PENN 88-38

BEFORE: Ford, Chairman; Backley, Doyle, Lastowka and Nelson,
Commissioners

DECISION

BY THE COMMISSION:

This consolidated contest and civil penalty proceeding arises
under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et
seq. (the "Mine Act"), and involves three alleged violations of 30
C.F.R. § 75.1704, the mandatory escapeways standard for underground coal
mines. 1/ The issue is whether the cited areas are "working sections"

1/ Section 75.1704 essentially restates section 317(f)(1) of the Mine
Act, 30 U.S.C. § 877(£)(1), and provides:

Except as provided in §§ 75.1705 and 75.1706, at
least two separate and distinct travelable
passageways which are maintained to insure passage
at all times of any person, including disabled
persons, and which are to be designated as
escapeways, at least one of which is ventilated with
intake air, shall be provided from each working
section continuous to the surface escape drift
opening, or continuous to the escape shaft or slope
facilities to the surface, as appropriate, and shall
be maintained in safe condition and properly marked.
Mine openings shall be adequately protected to
prevent the entrance into the underground area of
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within the meaning of the standard and, thus, subject to the
requirements of section 75.1704.

Commission Administrative Law Judge Roy J. Maurer concluded that
the subject areas were not 'working sections" and vacated the two
citations and the order of withdrawal containing the violations and
dismissed the associated civil penalty proceeding. 10 FMSHRC 224
(February 1988) (ALJ). We granted the Secretary of Labor's petition for
discretionary review and heard oral argument. For the reasons that
follow, we affirm the judge.

I.

The facts underlying the cited conditions in this matter are
essentially uncontroverted.

Docket No. PENN 87-94

Several weeks before October 7, 1986, BethEnergy Mines, Inc.
officials began rehabilitating the 1 Right Section in the Mine 84
Complex ("Complex") and assigned workers there, on an intermittent
basis, to ready the section for resumption of coal production, which had
ceased ten months earlier in December 1985. On October 7, 1986, an
inspector of the Department of Labor's Mine Safety and Health
Administration ("MSHA"), Lloyd Smith, conducted a regular quarterly
inspection of the Livingston Portal area of the Complex. Before he
proceeded underground, the inspector was advised by a company official
that a crew had been sent into the 1 Right Section. There were several
things that needed to be done on that section before coal production
could begin, including clean-up work.

Upon arriving at the section, Smith observed the crew, as well as
a mechanic and several construction workers. A continuous mining
machine, a roof bolting machine, a shuttle car, an air pump, and a belt
conveyor were present in the area. A load center was also present but
it was not yet operable. Because the load center was not operable,
there was no power in the 1 Right Section. In addition, the belt
conveyor was inoperable because there was no hopper at the end of the
belt to receive coal from the shuttle car. Because of various
difficulties, coal production on the section was not actually resumed
until December 1986.

Inspector Smith reviewed the section map and travelled the No. 2
and No. 3 entries, the routes identified on the map as the designated

the mine of surface fires, fumes, smoke, and
floodwater. Escape facilities approved by the
Secretary or his authorized representative, properly
maintained and frequently tested, shall be present
at or in each escape shaft or slope to allow all
persons, including disabled persons, to escape
quickly to the surface in the event of an emergency.

(Emphasis added.)
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intake air and alternate escapeways. Smith discovered that the
escapeways were obstructed by two seven-foot high metal overcasts with
no means for traversing them. 2/ Smith, believing the 1 Right Section
to be a "working section" requiring two travelable escapeways
"maintained to insure passage at all times of any person,' concluded
that the obstructed escapeways violated section 75.1704, and he cited
BethEnergy for a violation of the standard. Subsequently, BethEnergy
abated the violation. by installing steps with handrails at each
overcast.

Docket No. PENN 87-200-R

Some nine months later, on July 27, 1987, MSHA Inspector William
Brown conducted an inspection of the same general area of the Complex.
This inspection took place at the end of a month long mine shutdown.
Prior to travelling underground, Brown was advised by a union safety
committeeman that a roof fall had occurred in the designated intake air
escapeway for the 53 Parallel Section of the Complex and that miners
were working in the section. The roof fall blocked the escapeway at the
No. 74 stopping. Inspector Brown went to an area where three miners
were grading non-combustible material from the bottom to permit a
mantrip to extend into the Complex's new A-Left Section. Two masons
were constructing an overcast nearby. Because the mine was at the end
of its shutdown status, no coal production was underway, although coal
had been mined there previous to the shutdown and further coal
production was planned after the shutdown ended. (In fact, production
resumed in the A-Left Section approximately eight days later.) The
inspector believed that the area where the miners were working was a
"working section," and he concluded that the obstructed intake escapeway
violated section 75.1704. Therefore, he cited BethEnergy for violating
the standard.

Docket No. PENN 87-201-R

After leaving the 53 Parallel area, Inspector Brown proceeded to
the 3 Right Longwall Section, which was serviced by the same intake air
escapeway as the 53 Parallel section. Arriving there, Inspector Brown
determined that miners were installing roof supports and preparing the
section for longwall mining. However, coal production was not yet
possible because only one half of the roof support shields were
installed at the face, the headgate drive and the shear, used for
cutting coal, were not at the face (they were in BethEnergy's shops),
and, although the pan line was installed, the conveyor was not connected
to the mining equipment. 1In fact, coal production did not commence on
the 3 Right longwall section until some eight days after the inspection.
Believing the longwall section to also be a "working section" and
because the designated intake air escapeway for the section was
impassable, the inspector cited BethEnergy for another violation of

2/ An overcast is defined as an "enclosed airway to permit one air
current to pass over another one without interruption.' Bureau of
Mines, U.S. Dep't of Interior, Dictionary of Mining, Mineral, and
Related Terms 780 (1986).
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section 75.1704.
II.

After a hearing in Docket No. PENN 87-94 and in Docket Nos. PENN
87-200-R and PENN 87-201-R, Judge Maurer issued his decision holding
that in each instance the Secretary failed to prove a violation of
section 75.1704. Because section 75.1704 requires escapeways to be
provided from each "working section," the judge and the parties agreed
that existence of the three alleged violations turned in each instance
upon whether the cited area was a "working section' within the meaning
of the standard. The judge initiated his analysis of this issue by
referring to 30 C.F.R. § 75.2(g)(3), the regulatory definition of
"working section." 3/ The judge noted that the definition of "working
section" depends in turn upon the definition of "working face," which is
defined in the regulations and the Mine Act as "any place in a coal mine
in which work of extracting coal from its natural deposit in the earth
is performed during the mining cycle." 30 C.F.R. § 75.2(g)(1); 30
U.S.C. § 878(g)(1). Because the term "mining cycle," as used in the
definition of "working face," is not defined in the Mine Act or the
Secretary's regulations, the judge considered definitions of the term
offered by the witnesses and agreed with those that defined the term
"mining cycle" as meaning those mining operations most immediately
connected with the extraction of coal -- supporting the roof, cutting
and loading the coal, and transporting the coal out of the mine.

10 FMSHRC at 230-32. The judge rejected BethEnergy's argument that
actual coal extraction must have commenced in order for a working face
or a working section to exist. However, noting that "in order to have a
working section one must have a working face," the judge stated that the
"term is closely related to actual or at least imminent coal production
at the face, i.e., roof bolting, cutting, loading and/or transporting
coal out of the mine." 10 FMSHRC at 232.

In analyzing whether each of the cited areas had the capability
for imminent production, the judge utilized the test proffered by the
Secretary's witnesses John DeMichiei, MSHA District Manager, and MSHA
Inspector Lloyd Smith that the operator must at least have assembled the
equipment that it needs to produce coal. 4/ 10 FMSHRC at 231-32, 233,
237.

Regarding Docket No. PENN 87-94, the judge found that on
October 7, 1986, in the 1 Right Section, although much of the mining
equipment necessary to produce coal was present on the section, not all

3/ 30 C.F.R. § 75.2(g)(3), which restates section 318(g)(3) of the
Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. §§ 878(g)(3), defines "working section" as follows:

"Working section' means all areas of the coal mine
from the loading point of the section to and

including the working faces.

4/ At the time that he testified, DeMichiei was an MSHA Subdistrict
Manager. Subsequently, he was promoted to District Manager.
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of the necessary equipment was present or operable. Specifically, he
found that there was no bin or hopper at the end of the conveyor belt
enabling the shuttle car to unload coal onto the belt. He further found
that the load center that would provide power to the mining equipment
was inoperable. 10 FMSHRC at 228. In addition, he found that
permissibility checks had to be done on the equipment, ventilation had
to be adjusted, waterlines established, and rock dusting completed. 1Id.
He also noted that BethEnergy did not actually produce coal in the
section until December 1986, some two months after it was cited for the
violation. He concluded, therefore, that at the time of citation on
October 7, 1986, coal production in the section was not actual,
imminent, or even contemplated. 10 FMSHRC at 232. The judge concluded
that the 1 Right Section on that date had no working face or loading
point and, therefore, that the Secretary had failed to prove a violation
of section 75.1704., 10 FMSHRC at 232-33,

Regarding Docket No. PENN 87-200-R, the judge noted that while the
Secretary referred to the alleged violation as having occurred in the 53
Parallel Section, BethEnergy referred to the same area as the A-Left
Section. The judge held that the nomenclature of the area did not
matter, and that the important factors were whether a working face and a
load point were present in the area thus qualifying it as a working
section. 10 FMSHRC at 234, The judge found that the A-Left faces were
"working faces." He also found that there was a loading point that
would be used for removing coal from the A-Left faces during production.
10 FMSHRC at 235-36. He concluded, however, that because the miners
working in the area of the grading job were working outby this loading
point, and the definition of "working section' only.encompasses areas
from the face to the loading point, they were not working in an area
that could be termed a "working section" and, therefore, escapeways were
not required. 10 FMSHRC at 235-36.

In Docket No. PENN 87-201-R, the judge reiterated that the term
working face "implies at least imminent capability of coal production
from that face," and noted the Secretary's concession that at the time
of the alleged violation BethEnergy did not have assembled the equipment
necessary to produce coal in the 3 Right Longwall Section. 10 FMSHRC at
237. The judge held, therefore, that the Secretary failed to prove a
violation of section 75.1704.

IIT.

On review, the Secretary argues that the judge erred in defining
the term '"working section" by placing an unduly restrictive definition
upon the term "mining cycle." The Secretary contends that the judge's
conclusion that "mining cycle activity ... is limited to 'roof bolting,
cutting, loading and/or transporting coal out of the mine,'... is
error." PDR 7. The Secretary also argues that the judge failed to
accord the Secretary's interpretation of section 75.1704 due deference.
In addition, the Secretary argues that the judge's holding in Docket No.
PENN 87-200-R, that no violation of section 75.1704 occurred because the
miners were working outby the working section, improperly focuses upon
the location of the miners rather than the existence of the working
section.
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BethEnergy responds that the judge properly interpreted the
meaning of "'working section" in holding that an area of a mine does not
become a "working section" for the purpose of section 75.1704 until the
equipment necessary to produce coal is present in the area and
production is imminent. BethEnergy contests the Secretary's claim to
deference by pointing to conflicting testimony by the Secretary's
witnesses as to the appropriate definition of "mining cycle" and as to
when a working section comes into existence. BethEnergy also asserts
that substantial evidence supports the judge's finding in Docket No.
PENN 87-200-R that the area cited by the inspector at the grading job
was not a working section.

Iv.

All underground mines have routes of ingress and egress that can
be used in emergencies whether or not the miners using them are located
in working sections. These routes must be shown on a map posted where
all miners can acquaint themselves with them. 30 C.F.R. § 75.1704-2(d).
In addition, practice drills must be conducted so that each miner is
familiar with the evacuation system. 30 C.F.R. § 75.1704(e). As
counsel for the Secretary acknowledged at oral argument, even though the
escapeways at issue here were unavailable for use by miners, other
routes were available. Oral Arg. Tr. at 17. However, the presence of
these various evacuation routes does not relieve an operator from the
duty to comply with section 75.1704, i.e., to provide two designated
escapeways from each working section of a mine.

Section 75.1704 provides in pertinent part that "at least two
separate and distinct travelable passageways ... shall be provided from
each working section...." The term "working section' first appears in
conjunction with a federal mining escapeways standard in section 6.g. of
the 1953 Federal Mine Safety Code for Bituminous Coal and Lignite Mines
of the United States, issued by the Bureau of Mines, United States
Department of the Interior. Earlier federal mining laws and regulations
used the terms '"active sections" and "active face areas" to denominate
areas of the mine now generally encompassed within the definition of
"working section" set forth in section 75.2(g)(3). See, e.g., Federal
Coal Mine Safety Act Amendments of 1952, Pub. L. No. 82-552, 66 Stat.
692 (1952).

"Working section" was accorded its present statutory definition in
the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969, 30 U.S.C. § 801,
878(g)(3) (1976)("Coal Act"). The Senate Subcommittee report stated
that the Bureau of Mines provided the definition to Congress and advised
that the term was one 'commonly understood in the coal mining industry."
S. Rep. No. 411, 91st Cong. lst Sess. 86, reprinted in Senate
Subcommittee on Labor, Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, 91st Cong.
1st Sess., Part I Legislative History of the Federal Coal Mine Health
and Safety Act of 1969, at 212 (1975). The Coal Act's definition of
working section was also promulgated by the Secretary of the Interior as
part of the Coal Act's mandatory safety standards. 30 C.F.R.
§ 75.2(g)(3). Subsequently, the definition was carried over into the
Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. § 878(g)(3), and remains part of the Secretary's .
mandatory safety standards for underground coal mines. 30 C.F.R.
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§ 75.2(g)(3).

A search of the legislative histories of the various mine safety
statutes, mine safety regulations, and the Secretary's published
interpretations of the regulations reveals no further elucidation of
this "commonly understood" term prior to the inception of the
controversy now before us.

Notwithstanding the '"common understanding' of the meaning of the
term and the fact that it has been a part of the federal mine escapeway
requirements for over 35 years, the judge in this proceeding was
presented with no less than four distinct constructions of "working
section," and three of these were propounded by MSHA personnel. MSHA
witnesses Smith and DeMichiei testified that a working section comes
into existence when the section contains a loading point and mining
equipment integral to the coal extraction process, and that actual coal
extraction is not required. Contradicting Smith and DeMichiei were the
Secretary's other witnesses, former MSHA District Manager Don Huntley
and Inspector Brown. Huntley testified that in his view section 75.1704
is applicable when the "first event' that facilitates extraction of coal
from an area takes place, however minor that event may be. According to
Huntley, the "first event'" may not necessarily involve roof bolting,
cutting or loading, or the movement of equipment necessary for these
operations into the cited area; rather, it may include ancillary
activity outby the loading point, such as belt or track installation
that will ultimately facilitate the extraction of coal. Huntley stated
that his definition could be interpreted to include all areas of the
mine. Tr. IIT at 469. MSHA Inspector Brown asserted that the standard
applies once a potential working section is delineated; i.e., by
identifying a particular face and its attendant loading point as
discrete geographical locations regardless of whether equipment has been
moved into the area. On the other hand, BethEnergy's witness, Mine
Superintendent Thomas Mucho testified that a "working section" exists
for purposes of section 75.1704 only when actual coal extraction has
commenced in an area of a mine containing a working face and a loading
point. From BethEnergy's point of view, two escapeways need not be
established until the operator starts his equipment and commences
mining.

In view of the divergent '"definitions" of "working section"
offered at the hearing by the Secretary's witnesses, we cannot conclude
that the further refined interpretation of this term urged by counsel
for the Secretary on review -- that "working section" be defined broadly
to encompass areas of the mine between the working face and loading
point where the work of preparing, maintaining, or disassembling the
section is occurring, regardless of whether coal is being produced or
the necessary equipment is present (Sec. Br. at 11, 21; Oral Arg. Tr.
at 6) -- is a longstanding or consistent departmental interpretation
justifying the deference that the Secretary claims is merited here.
See, e.g., I.N.S. v. Cardozo-Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421 (1987); American
Mining Congress v. EPA, 824 F.2d 1177, 1182 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

Indeed, we note that on January 27, 1988, after this matter had
been briefed to the judge, the Secretary published a proposed revision
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of the escapeways standard. 53 Fed. Reg. 2704-05 (1988). The revision
retains the existing requirement that at least two travelable
passageways in each mine be designated and maintained as escapeways from
each working section. In connection with this proposed revision, MSHA
has set forth, apparently for the first time, a written interpretation
of when the requirements of section 75.1704 become applicable. In a
Notice of Public Hearings on the proposed revisions the following
appears in Section D.: '"As under the existing provisions, MSHA intends
that the proposal would apply not only to areas where coal is being
produced, but to all areas where miners are working underground." 53
Fed. Reg. 16873 (emphasis added). This interpretation of the purported
broad reach of the existing escapeway provision was, however, disavowed
by counsel for the Secretary at oral argument before us. Oral Arg. Tr.
at 10-12, 51, Furthermore, at a public hearing on the proposed standard
on June 6, 1988, the following MSHA position was stated:

MSHA wishes to clarify its position with respect to
the proposed requirement on escapeways which would
retain from the existing rules that two escapeways
be provided to each working section. MSHA believes
that the existing rule and the proposal would
require escapeways to be maintained during the
installation and removal of mining equipment as well
as during the actual production and extraction
phase.

MSHA intends to clarify the final rule to remove any
possible ambiguity with this proposed provision.
That is, any ambiguity that the escapeway would not
have to be maintained during the process of getting
the equipment ready for production.

Submission of counsel for Secretary to Commission, Document 3 (March 17,
1989) (emphasis added). These statements highlight, in our view, the
Secretary's failure to articulate a consistent departmental position

regarding the circumstances under which the requirements of section
75.1704 apply.

Given these varying interpretations offered by MSHA, an operator
could claim with some force that it had no notice of the standard of
conduct expected of it by MSHA under the regulation. Indeed, the
chronology of events in this proceeding starkly reflects the result of
MSHA's equivocal approach to enforcement. The first alleged violation
was cited in October 1986, and an evidentiary hearing on the violation
was held before the second and third citations were issued in July 1987.
District Manager DeMichiei testified at that first hearing regarding the
requirements of section 75.1704. When the subsequent violations were
being cited, BethEnergy officials argued to the inspector that in
determining whether the requirements of section 75.1704 were applicable
to the involved area of the mine, they had relied upon the criteria for
compliance as testified to by DeMichiei at the previous hearing.
Subsequently, at the hearing on the second and third cited violations,
the Secretary's witnesses either disavowed or distinguished DeMichiei's
criteria. In fact, MSHA witness Huntley testified that he could
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understand how BethEnergy officials, relying on DeMichiei's testimony,
could reasonably have concluded that escapeways were not necessary until
there was "adequate equipment on the section." Tr. III at 461. We
believe that the above progression vividly illustrates the difficulties
BethEnergy faced in attempting to comply with section 75.1704.
BethEnergy cannot lightly be presumed to be aware of what the standard
required when the Secretary's own witnesses were so uncertain and in
such wide disagreement as to the meaning of "working section." See Jim
Walter Resources, 9 FMSHRC 903, 908 (May 1987).

Given the absence of any consistent Secretarial interpretation of
the meaning of the standard meriting deference, the standard must be
interpreted in a reasonable manner, giving effect to its wording and
intended safety purpose. As the judge essentially found, all relevant
factors pertaining to the status of the cited area of a mine must be
considered. In general, the record suggests that the following broad
factors are chief among those bearing on whether an area of a mine is a
"working section': the hazards associated with the work being done in
the area (hazards); the geographical components of the area (location);
the physical components of the area and their functional readiness
(capability); and the development of the area with respect to actual
production (timeliness).

For example, the hazards associated with the work being done in
the area include the increased dangers associated with the ongoing
activities in a section. As acknowledged by counsel for the Secretary
at oral argument, the activities associated with reasonably imminent
coal production introduce increased hazards to the particular area of
the mine where production takes place. Oral Arg. Tr. at 12. It is the
presence of the increased hazards to miners attendant to actual or
reasonably close coal production that form a pragmatic basis for the two
escapeways requirement of section 75.1704. It is then that methane is
more likely to be released in larger quantities during extraction of
coal at the face. Also at this time, there may be an increase in the
generation of suspended coal dust, an increase in the possibility of
sparking, and an increased possibility of exposure to unsupported roof.
The geographical components of a working section, as delineated in
section 75.2(g)(3), are the existence of an identifiable face from which
coal is or will be extracted, as well as a section loading point. The
physical components of an area and their functional readiness relate to
the presence of those mechanical mining components integral to the
method of extraction contemplated in the identified location. In this
regard, the presence of a functioning power center, a functional loading
point connected to the mine's main haulage system, and necessary roof
support equipment (such as shields where longwall mining is involved)
are appropriate indicators of a section's capability. On the other
hand, the location of equipment that merely has to be trammed into
position -- such as a continuous mining machine, roof bolter or shuttle
car -- is not necessarily dispositive of the "capability" of a section
to extract coal. Timeliness is linked to capability and refers to the
imminence of production. We agree with the judge that while actual
production is not necessary, the term "working section" is inextricably
linked to the term "working face" and that term, we conclude, implies
coal production that is reasonably close in time. Once production is
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reasonably close, mechanical and electrical problems that temporarily
interrupt the otherwise established capability of a section to produce
coal do not relieve the operator from compliance with the mandates of
section 75.1704., Other relevant factors also include the status of the
mine's operations at the time of the alleged violation and any evidence
as to the operator's plan for establishing unobstructed escapeways prior
to the start of production activities. See Oral Arg. Tr. at 23-24.

V.

Weighing the facts presented in these proceedings in light of such
factors, we conclude that substantial evidence supports the judge's
finding in each instance that BethEnergy did not violate section
75.1704. We note generally that the mine, or in the case of the first
citation, the area of the mine where the alleged violation occurred, was
in a state of shutdown at the time of each citation and BethEnergy was
maintaining and readying the area for future coal production. Also,
there is no evidence that BethEnergy would have begun coal production
with the escapeways remaining in their obstructed state. Counsel for
the Secretary admitted as much in oral argument before us. Oral Arg.
Tr. at 24.

Specifically, the violation alleged in Docket No. PENN 87-94
concerned the 1 Right Section. In this section, there existed
identified faces from which coal was to be extracted, as well as a
loading point. However, the loading point was not functional because
the hopper or bin needed to permit unloading of coal from shuttle cars
had yet to be constructed and the power center was inoperable. Further,
as the judge noted, mining was not resumed until December 1986. Thus,
there is ample support in the record for a finding that at the time of
citation the section was not capable of coal extraction and that
production was not reasonably close in time. Moreover, setting up the
belt, conducting permissibility examinations, and moving equipment --

operations underway when the inspector issued his order -- are not the
type of mining activities generally associated with the increased
hazards of the traditional mining cycle -- roof bolting, cutting,

loading and/or transporting coal out of the mine.

The violation alleged in Docket No. PENN 87-200-R covered an area
where miners were grading the entry and two miners were working nearby
on overcasts. The judge concluded that the miners were not physically
located in an area that could properly be denominated a "working
section" for purposes of section 75.1704. He determined that although
the A-Left Section had an identifiable face and a loading point, the
miners referred to by the inspector in the citation were outby the
physical limits of the A-Left Section.

We agree with the Secretary that the judge erred in focusing
solely on the location of the maintenance crew in determining whether
escapeways were required in the A-left section at the time of citation.
As discussed above, the proper focus must be on an assessment of all the
relevant factors bearing on whether an area of the mine is a working
section. Nevertheless, we conclude that substantial evidence supports
the finding that the A-left was not then a working section. In addition
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to the fact that the only work being performed in the area was
maintenance work during the mine shutdown, the A-left was not capable of
coal production because, as part of the maintenance work, the 53 belt
conveyor, necessary for removing coal from the section, was
disassembled. Tr. III at 485-86, 490. 1In fact coal was not produced in
the A-left until a week after the citation was issued. Id. at 508.

The violation alleged in Docket No. PENN 87-201-R occurred in the
3 Right Longwall Section. The inspector determined that six miners were
installing temporary roof supports (shields) and connecting hoses to
prepare the section for longwall mining. Tr. 345-46. It is undisputed
that only half of the shields were installed at the face, that the
headgate drive and shear were in BethEnergy's shops, and that, although
the pan line was installed, the conveyor was not connected to any of the
mining equipment. Tr. 348-50, 379-81, 517-18. Indeed, the installation
of the longwall was not completed and production did not commence on the
section until approximately one week after the violation was cited.
Therefore, the section was not capable of coal production nor was
production reasonably close in time on the 3 Right Longwall section when
the violation was cited. Thus, the section was not, as of that date, a
working section requiring compliance with the requirements of section
75.1704.
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VI.

We thus conclude that the judge's findings that the requirements-
of section 75.1704 were not applicable to the cited three areas of the
Complex are supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, we affirm
the judge's decision.
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION
' 1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. "20006
August 28, 1989

SECRETARY OF LABOR, :
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH : Docket Nos. PENN 87-121-R
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA) PENN 87-122-R

: PENN 87-124-R
v. : PENN 87-176
: PENN 87-235
TRACEY & PARTNERS, 3

RANDY ROTHERMEL, TRACEY PARTNERS

BEFORE: Ford, Chairman; Backley, Doyle, Lastowka and Nelson,
Commissioners

DECISION

BY: Ford, Chairman; Doyle and Nelson, Commissioners

The issue presented in this proceeding arising under the Federal
Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1982)("Mine
Act" or "Act"), is whether Tracey & Partners, Randy Rothermel, Tracey
Partners ("Tracey") violated section 103(a) of the Mine Act because of
its refusals to permit an inspector of the Department of Labor's Mine
Safety and Health Administration ("MSHA") to conduct spot inspections
pursuant to section 103(i) of the Act. 1/ MSHA issued Tracey two

1/ Section 103(a) of the Act states:

Purposes} advance notice; frequency; guidelines; right of
access

Authorized representatives of the Secretary ...
shall make frequent inspections and investigations
in coal or other mines each year for the purpose of
(1) obtaining, utilizing, and disseminating
information relating to health and safety
conditions, the causes of accidents, and the causes
of diseases and physical impairments originating in
such mines, (2) gathering information with respect
to mandatory health or safety standards, (3) deter-
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mining whether an imminent danger exists, and (4)
determining whether there is compliance with the
mandatory health or safety standards or with any
citation, order, or decision issued under this
[Act].... In carrying out the requirements of
clauses (3) and (4) of this subsection, the
Secretary shall make inspections of each underground
coal or other mine in its entirety at least four
times a year, and of each surface coal or other mine
in its entirety at least two times a year. The
Secretary shall develop guidelines for additional
inspections of mines based on criteria including,
but not limited to, the hazards found in mines
subject to this [Act], and his experience under this
[Act] and other health and safety laws. For the
purpose of making any inspection or investigation
under this [Act], the Secretary ... with respect to
fulfilling his responsibilities under this [Act] ...
shall have a right of entry to, upon, or through any
coal or other mine.

30 U.S.C. § 813(a).
Section 103(i) of the Act states:

Spot inspections

Whenever the Secretary finds that a coal or other
mine liberates excessive quantities of methane or
other explosive gases during its operations, or that
a methane or other gas ignition or explosion has
occurred in such mine which resulted in death or
serious injury at any time during the previous five
years, or that there exists in such mine some other
especially hazardous condition, he shall provide a
minimum of one spot inspection by his authorized
representative of all or part of such mine during
every five working days at irregular intervals. For
purposes of this subsection, "liberation of
excessive quantities of methane or other explosive
gases'" shall mean liberation of more than one
million cubic feet of methane or other explosive
gases during a 24-hour period. When the Secretary
finds that a coal or other mine liberates more than
five hundred thousand cubic feet of methane or other
explosive gases during a 24-hour period, he shall
provide a minimum of one spot inspection by his
authorized representative of all or part of such
mine every 10 working days at irregular intervals.
When the Secretary finds that a coal or other mine
liberates more than two hundred thousand cubic feet
of methane or other explosive gases during a 24-hour
period, he shall provide a minimum of one spot
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citations under section 104(a) of the Act and a failure to abate
withdrawal order under section 104(b) of the_ Act, 30 U.S.C. §§ 8l4(a)-
(b), for Tracey's refusals to permit access to its mine. Commission
Administrative Law Judge George A. Koutras concluded that MSHA's
attempts to conduct the spot inspections under section 103(i) were
improper, vacated the contested citations and withdrawal order, and
dismissed the Secretary's proposals for assessment of civil penalties.

9 FMSHRC 2127 (December 1987)(ALJ). We granted the Secretary of Labor's
petition for discretionary review of the judge's decision. For the
reasons that follow, we affirm.

The essential facts were stipulated by the parties. The citations
and order were issued at the Tracey Slope Mine, an underground
anthracite coal mine located in Schuylkill County, Pennsylvania. The
mine employs three to five miners underground and produces approximately
4,000 tons annually. During the 24 months preceding the issuance of the
contested citations and orders, the mine was subjected to 142 inspection
days and cited for a total of 24 citations. Stipulations 16 and 17, 9
FMSHRC 2131. A methane explosion had occurred at the mine on
February 10, 1982, resulting in serious injuries to three miners. As a
result, MSHA placed the mine on a five-day spot inspection cycle under
section 103(i) of the Mine Act. Section 103(i) mandates, in part, that,
whenever the Secretary finds that a methane explosion that results in
death or serious injury has occurred in a mine at any time during the
previous five years, the Secretary shall provide a minimum of one spot
inspection during every five working days, at irregular intervals.

The record reflects that no methane ignitions or explosions that
resulted in serious or fatal injury had occurred at this mine since the
accident on February 10, 1982, nor had the mine liberated "excessive
quantities of methane" as that terminology is defined in section 103(i).
The mine did have a methane ignition in 1985 but there were no injuries.

On September 15, 1986, six months prior to the fifth anniversary
of the February 10, 1982 explosion, Tracey sent MSHA a detailed letter
setting forth its reasons as to why the mine should be removed from the
section 103(i) spot inspection cycle when the five years elapsed on
February 10, 1987. The letter was prompted in part by Tracey's
discovery that a neighboring mine had been removed from the section
103(i) cycle seven years after it had experienced a methane explosion
similar to the one that occurred at Tracey's mine in 1982. No written
response was forthcoming from the agency and one MSHA witness speculated
that Tracey's letter had been lost or mislaid. 9 FMSHRC 2141, 2143,
2146.

On the morning of february 12, 1987, two days after the fifth
anniversary of the 1982 methane explosion, MSHA Inspector Victor G.
Mickatavage arrived at the mine to conduct a section 103(i) spot

inspection by his authorized representative of all
or part of such mine every 15 working days at
irregular intervals.

30 U.S.C. § 813(i).
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inspection. Randy Rothermel, an owner and the managing partner of the
mine, denied Mickatavage entry to the mine to conduct the section 103(i)
spot inspection but stated his willingness to permit any other type of
inspection. Mickatavage thereupon issued to Tracey a citation alleging
a violation of section 103(a) of the Act for denial of entry. After
allowing 45 minutes for abatement, Mickatavage requested entry to
conduct the section 103(i) spot inspection and again was denied entry.
Mickatavage then issued a section 104(b) withdrawal order for failure to
abate the citation, again alleging a violation of section 103(a) of the
Act. The withdrawal order did not prohibit entry into the mine.

On February 17, 1987, the inspector returned to the mine and
issued a modification to the February 12, 1987, citation and withdrawal
order that indicated the entire underground area of the mine was
affected. Tracey again denied entry to perform a section 103(i)
inspection, but the inspector took no new enforcement action. Two days
later, however, when Tracey denied Mickatavage entry to the mine to
conduct a section 103(i) spot inspection, the inspector issued a second
citation alleging Tracey's failure to comply with the section 104(b)
withdrawal order as modified and asserting a violation of section 103(a)
of the Mine Act. On March 23, 1987, a section 103(i) inspection on the
mine was finally permitted. Tracey filed notices of contest of the
citations and order, and the Secretary proposed civil penalties for the
alleged violations. These matters were consolidated and proceeded to
hearing before Judge Koutras.

At the hearing, Tracey contended that the requested section 103(i)
spot inspections were unlawful because none of the criteria set forth in
section 103(i) with respect to such inspections were satisfied at the
time of its denial of entry. Tracey maintained that section 103(i)
inspections are strictly limited by the terms of the statute. In
response, it was argued for the Secretary that, under section 103(a),
she possesses an absolute right of entry to perform inspections
authorized by the Mine Act, and that she has discretion based on the
particular conditions present in a mine to determine whether that mine
should remain subject to the section 103(i) spot inspections that were
originally triggered by a methane ignition resulting in death or serious
injury. The Secretary contended that MSHA acted within its statutory
authority in continuing the section 103(i) spot inspections beyond the
five-year anniversary of the triggering methane ignition, based on its
continued concern for methane gas in the mine as well as concern about
the mine's ventilation and roof control systems, escapeways, and
projected development toward impounded water.

Judge Koutras concluded that, although section 103(a) of the Act
gives MSHA a right of entry into the mine for inspection purposes, its
specific authority to conduct spot inspections every five days pursuant
to section 103(i) is subject to the following conditions delineated in
that section: (1) liberation of excessive quantities of methane or other
explosive gases during its operations, namely, more than one million
cubic feet of methane or other explosive gases during a 24-hour period;
(2) a methane or other gas ignition or explosion resulting in death or
serious injury at any time during the previous five years; and (3) the
existence in the mine of especially hazardous conditions. 9 FMSHRC
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at 2145.

Concerning the first and second statutory conditions giving rise
to the section 103(i) inspections, the judge noted that MSHA had
stipulated "that the mine had not liberated 'excessive quantities of
methane' as that term is defined by section 103(i)" and that MSHA had
also stipulated that no methane ignitions or explosions resulting in
serious injury had occurred in the mine since the accident of February
10, 1982. 9 FMSHRC at 2148, 2157. Regarding the third condition, the
judge considered MSHA's concern about the mine's ventilation, roof
conditions, escapeways, and planned development, but found that MSHA had
failed to show that this concern warranted inspections every five days
u